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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No.
HARRY JONES and GLORY JONES
on behalf of themselves
and all others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,
CLASS ACTION
V. JURY DEMAND

CENTRAL LOAN ADMINISTRATION
& REPORTING d/b/a CENLAR FSB and AMERICAN
SECURITY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants.
/

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs file this class action complaint on behalf of themselves and all others similarly
situated against Central Loan Administration & Reporting d/b/a Cenlar FSB (“Cenlar”) and
American Security Insurance Company (“ASIC”).

INTRODUCTION

1. Cenlar is an operating subsidiary of CCC, and a privately held, federally chartered
savings bank. Cenlar is the leading sub-servicer of U.S. mortgage loans and has been servicing
residential mortgage loans since 1970. As of late 2015, Cenlar was servicing approximately 1.65
million loans totaling $351 billion. Cenlar has had an arrangement with ASIC and its affiliates
during the class period whereby ASIC performs many of Cenlar’s mortgage-servicing functions
and is the exclusive provider of force-placed insurance (“FPI”) coverage for homeowners with
mortgage loans owned or serviced by Cenlar.

2. In exchange for providing ASIC with the exclusive right to monitor the entire
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Cenlar loan portfolio and force-place their own insurance coverage, ASIC provides Cenlar with
various kickbacks that Defendants attempt to disguise as legitimate compensation. These
kickbacks include but are not limited to one or more of the following: (1) unearned “commissions”
paid to Cenlar or its affiliate for work purportedly performed to procure individual policies; (2)
“expense reimbursements” allegedly paid to reimburse Cenlar for expenses it incurred in the
placement of force-placed insurance coverage on homeowners; (3) payments of illusory
reinsurance premiums that carry no commensurate transfer of risk; and (4) free or below-cost
mortgage-servicing functions that ASIC performs for Cenlar. Because of these kickbacks, Cenlar
essentially receives a rebate on the cost of the force-placed insurance; however, Cenlar
homeowners ultimately bear the cost of these kickbacks because Cenlar and ASIC do not pass on
these rebates to the borrower. The charges for force-placed insurance are deducted from
borrowers’ escrow accounts and Defendants attempt to disguise the kickbacks as legitimate by
characterizing them as income earned by Cenlar when, in fact, they are unearned, unlawful profits.

3. After years of hard-fought litigation in class actions brought across the nation, many
before this Court, and after extensive investigations by numerous state and federal insurance
regulators, some of the wrongful practices that are the subject of this lawsuit have abated or been
prohibited. By certifying the specific classes proposed by Plaintiffs against Cenlar, the Court will
avail hundreds of thousands of Cenlar homeowners who were directly affected by these practices
of their only opportunity to seek monetary damages, and Plaintiffs of the opportunity to ensure
that Defendants will cease their illegal practices for all Cenlar borrowers nationwide for years to
come.

4. During the proposed class period, ASIC and Cenlar treated Plaintiffs and every

putative class member in an identical manner pursuant to their standard policies and procedures
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by: (1) notifying them that their coverage had lapsed and new coverage had been forced with the
same cycle of form letters; (2) forcing coverage for every borrower from one master policy that
covered Cenlar’s entire loan portfolio; (3) forcing new coverage in the same manner for every
member of the proposed classes; and (4) including the same impermissible costs in the amounts
charged every putative class member for coverage.

5. Lenders and servicers, like Cenlar here, force place insurance coverage when a
borrower fails to obtain or maintain proper hazard, flood, or wind insurance coverage on the
property that secures his or her loan. Under the typical mortgage agreement, if the insurance policy
lapses or provides insufficient coverage, the lender has the right to “force place” new coverage on
the property to protect its interest and then charge the borrower the cost of coverage. The
Defendants’ force-placed insurance scheme takes advantage of the broad discretion afforded the
lenders and servicers in standard form mortgage agreements.

6. The money to finance force-placed insurance schemes comes from unsuspecting
borrowers who are charged inflated amounts for force-placed insurance by lenders or servicers —
Cenlar here. Borrowers are required to pay the full amount that the lender or servicer initially pays
to the insurer — here ASIC and affiliates — despite the fact that a considerable portion of that amount
is kicked back to the lender or servicer in the manner described above. Cenlar gets the benefit of
an effective rebate from ASIC that it does not pass on to the borrower. Instead it charges the
borrower the full amount, purportedly for the cost of insurance coverage. Lenders and servicers,
like Cenlar, and their exclusive force-placed insurers, ASIC, manipulate the force-placed insurance
market so that Cenlar selects an insurer, ASIC, that will provide it with the most incentives for its
business and keep the exclusive relationship in place. Cenlar and ASIC then reap their

unconscionable profits entirely at the expense of the unsuspecting borrowers.
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7. At a recent hearing on force-placed insurance held by the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”), Birny Birnbaum, the foremost expert on the force-placed
insurance market, illustrated the staggering growth in profits that Defendants’ schemes have

reaped in recent years:?

LPI Premiums Have Quadrupled Since 2004

Gross Written Net Written

Premium Premium
Year (S Millions) (S Millions)
2004 $1.485 $796
2005 $1.832 $919
2006 $2.163 $1.074
2007 $3.058 $1.647
2008 $4.000 $2.209
2009 $5.181 $3.049
2010 $5.915 $3.223
2011 $5.692 $3.450
2004-
2011 $29.326 $16.368

2009-2011 GWP Understated., Reporting Errors by QBE

CEJ LPI Presentation to NAIC i3 August 9, 2012

8. Assurant, Inc. which works through its subsidiaries, like ASIC, is one of two major
insurance companies that has controlled close to 100% of the market for force-placed insurance in
.recent years. As shown below, Assurant held 58.6% of the nationwide market share for force-
placed insurance in 2011. Together, Assurant and QBE/Balboa, the other major insurer that held
a significant market share2, controlled 99.7% of the market in the same year, and held no less than
96.1% of the market between 2004 and 2011. Mortgage lenders and servicers sustain the insurers’

monopoly by agreeing to purchase all force-placed insurance from the two insurers in exchange

! This graph and the ones that follow were taken from Mr. Birnbaum’s presentation to the NAIC
on August 9, 2012. The presentation is available at:

http://www.naic.org/documents/committees ¢ 120809 public_shearing_lender placed insuranc
e_presentation_birnbaum.pdf.

2 In 2015, QBE sold its FPI business and is now transitioning out of the market.
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for kickbacks and other benefits.

Assurant and QBE Are the Market for LLPI:
Countrywide Market Share

Assurant +

Year Assurant OBE/Balboa OBE/Balboa
2004 68.2% 29.8% 98.0%
2005 69 7% 26.4% 96.1%
2006 79.2% 19.5% 98 7%
2007 74.0% 25 4% 99 4°5
2008 74.2% 25.5% 99 7%
2009 57.2% 42 4% 99 7%
2010 56.2% 43 .5% 99 7%
2011 58.6% 41.1% 99.7%
9. Florida has been at the epicenter of all force-placed insurance activity nationwide—

more than one-third of all force-placed pOolicies are placed in Florida, three times more than in
California, which has the second-highest volume.
10. In his presentation to the NAIC, Mr. Birnbaum illustrated the astounding rise in

force-placed insurance policies in Florida:

IL.LPI Premium by State: Florida Has Become Ground Zero

2004 2005 20006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
FIL 10.6%6 10.8%06 13.3%06 17.9%% 22 9% 34 . 3%¢ 36.7%0 35.1%0
C.A 20.8%0 19.3%0 21.2%6 23 .5%0 24 .3%0 14.0%0 11.1%0 10.2%0
T 10.6%6 10.7%6 R _8%% 8.7%%6 7.0%% 5.6%0 5.6%6 6.1%0
NS 3.6%0 3.6%0 4.5%¢ 4 _.4%% 4 .3%% 4. T%o 5.4%6 5.6%0
I 3.0%6 3.3%0 3.92¢ 3. 7% 3.9%9% 4 4%0 4.1%0 4.6%0
NT 2.9%% 2. 7% 2.9%20 2.7%0 2.7%0 2.9%0 3.4%0 4.0%0
NT 4 .2%g 4 _A4%0 A 4% 5.8%% 3.6%0 2. 7% 2. 220 2 . 0%0
OH 3.6%0 3.8%0 3.5%0 2. 7% 2 4% 2. 2% 2.3%0 2. 9%
GA 3.4%0 3.2%% 3.2%0 2.4%% 2.3%0 2.3%0 2.3%0 2.3%
PA 2.6%0 2.6%0 2.7%06 1.8%% 1.8%0 1.8%0 1.7%06 1.8%0

CEJ LPI Presentation to NAIC 15 August 9, 2012
11. Defendants’ self-dealing and collusion in the force-placed insurance market has

caused substantial harm to the named Plaintiffs and the proposed classes they seek to represent.

5
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Plaintiffs do not challenge the cost of the FPI per se, nor do they challenge the insurance rates filed
in any State by ASIC — which are filed for commercial policies that Cenlar is obligated to pay per
the agreements between Defendants. This class action seeks to redress that harm on behalf of the
Plaintiffs and the proposed class members relating to Defendants’ manipulation of the force-placed
insurance process and the amounts Cenlar chooses to charge its borrowers: Cenlar receives an
effective rebate on the cost of the FPI but does not pass the rebate on to the borrowers.
PARTIES

Plaintiffs

12.  Plaintiffs Harry Jones and Glory Jones are citizens of the State of Florida. They
are natural persons over the age of 21 and otherwise sui juris.
Defendants

13. Defendant AMERICAN SECURITY INSURANCE COMPANY is a Delaware
corporation and an indirect subsidiary of Assurant Inc., writing force-placed insurance policies in
all fifty states and the District of Columbia with its principal address in Atlanta, Georgia. ASIC
along with its affiliates often operate under the trade name “Assurant Specialty Property.” ASIC
contracts with the lenders to act as a force-placed insurance vendor and take over certain mortgage
servicing functions. Its duties include but are not limited to, tracking loans in their mortgage
portfolio, new loan boarding, loss draft functions, escrow analysis, handling customer service
duties, and securing force-placed insurance policies on properties when a borrower’s insurance
has lapsed. ASIC’s actuarial department which sets the rates for force-placed insurance is located

in Miami, Florida.
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14. Defendant CENLAR is an operating subsidiary of CCC and a privately-held company
with headquarters in Ewing, New Jersey. Cenlar is mortgage servicer and conducts business
throughout the United States, including specifically in this District.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the Class Action Fairness
Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), Pub. L. No. 109-2, 119 Stat. 4 (codified in various sections of 28 U.S.C.).

16. Plaintiffs are citizens of the State of Florida with property in Miami-Dade County.
Defendants are citizens of various other states but are registered to do business in the
aforementioned states. The amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000 and there are at least one
hundred members of the putative class.

17.  This Court has jurisdiction over Defendants because they are foreign corporations
authorized to conduct business in Florida, are doing business in Florida or have registered with the
Florida Secretary of State, or do sufficient business in Florida, have sufficient minimum contacts
with Florida, or otherwise intentionally avail themselves of the Florida consumer market through
the promotion, marketing, sale, and service of mortgages or other lending services and insurance
policies in Florida. This purposeful availment renders the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court
over Defendants and their affiliated or related entities permissible under traditional notions of fair
play and substantial justice.

18. In addition, this Court has subject-matter jurisdiction under CAFA because the
amount in controversy exceeds $5 million and diversity exists between Plaintiffs and the
Defendants. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2). Further, in determining whether the $5 million amount in
controversy requirement of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) is met, the claims of the putative class members

are aggregated. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6).
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19. Venue is proper in this forum pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. Defendants transact
business and may be found in this District.

20. All conditions precedent to this action have occurred, been performed, or have
been waived.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

21.  Permitting a lender to forcibly place insurance on a mortgaged property and charge
the borrower for the cost of the coverage is neither a new concept nor a term undisclosed to
borrowers in mortgage agreements. The standard form mortgage agreements owned or serviced
by Cenlar include a provision requiring the borrower to maintain hazard insurance coverage, flood
insurance coverage if the property is located in a Special Flood Hazard Area as determined by the
Federal Emergency Management Agency, and wind insurance coverage on the property securing
the loan, and in the event the insurance lapses, permit the lender to obtain force-placed coverage
and charge the borrower for the cost rather than declare the borrow in default.

22. What is unknown to borrowers and not disclosed in the mortgage agreements is
that Cenlar has exclusive arrangements with ASIC and its affiliates, to manipulate the force-placed
insurance market and charge borrowers more for force-placed insurance than what Cenlar itself
pays. The charges are inflated to provide Cenlar and its affiliates with kickbacks in the form of

99 ¢

“commissions,” “qualified expense reimbursements,” or reinsurance arrangements, and to cover
the cost of discounted mortgage servicing functions, and other unmerited charges. The borrower
is then forced to pay these inflated amounts.

The Force-Placed Insurance Scheme

23.  ASIC has entered into an exclusive arrangement with Cenlar to provide various

mortgage servicing functions at below-cost; mortgage servicing functions that are properly
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Cenlar’s responsibility and that Cenlar is paid to perform by the owners of loans. ASIC also
contracts to monitor Cenlar’s mortgage loan portfolio and force-place insurance when an
individual borrower’s voluntary policy lapses, both obligations properly borne by Cenlar. In
addition to the subsidized mortgage services Cenlar receives from ASIC, a percentage of
borrowers’ force-placed insurance charges are “kicked back” and paid directly to Cenlar.

24, The scheme works as follows. Cenlar contracts for ASIC to take over various
mortgage servicing functions and for a master insurance policy that covers its entire portfolio of
mortgage loans. In exchange, ASIC and its affiliates are given the exclusive right to be the sole
force-place insurance provider on property securing a loan within the portfolio when the
borrower’s insurance lapses or the lender/servicer determines the borrower’s existing insurance is
inadequate.

25.  ASIC and its affiliates monitor Cenlar’s entire loan portfolio for lapses in
borrowers’ insurance coverage. Once a lapse is identified, an automated cycle of notices,
purporting to come from Cenlar but actually generated by ASIC, is sent to the borrowers to inform
them that insurance will be purchased and force-placed if the voluntary coverage is not continued.
In reality, however, the master policy is already in place and Cenlar does not purchase a new policy
on the individual borrower’s behalf, rather, a certificate of insurance from the master policy is
automatically issued by ASIC. If a lapse continues, the borrower is notified that insurance is being
force-placed at his or her expense.

26. No individualized underwriting ever takes place for the force-placed coverage.
Insurance is automatically placed on the property and the inflated amounts, including the unlawful
kickbacks, are charged to the borrower. In many instances, the insurance lapse is not discovered

for months or even years after the fact. Despite the absence of any claim or damage to the property
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during the period of lapse, coverage is placed on the property and the borrower is charged for the
“cost” of the retroactive coverage.

27.  Cenlar then pays ASIC for the certificate of insurance, which issues from the
already-existing master policy. It is Cenlar, not the borrower, that is obligated to pay ASIC for the
force-placed insurance pursuant to the agreements between Cenlar and ASIC (and which
borrowers are not parties to), that govern the mortgage servicing functions that ASIC performs as
well as the procurement of the master policy, and are executed and already in place before any
borrower’s coverage lapses.

28.  Once coverage issues and Cenlar has paid ASIC the full amount invoiced, ASIC
kicks back a set percentage of that amount to Cenlar without Cenlar performing any functions
related to the placement of coverage or incurring any costs. The kickbacks paid to Cenlar or its
affiliates are falsely labeled as “commissions,” “reinsurance payments,” or ‘“expense
reimbursements.” Upon information and belief, any Cenlar affiliate that receives the kickback
passes along that payment to Cenlar, sometimes in the form of “soft dollar” or other credits.

29.  The payment is not compensation for work performed; it is an effective rebate on
the premium amount, reducing the cost of coverage that Cenlar pays to ASIC. The “commissions”
or “expense reimbursements” are not legitimate reimbursements for actual costs, nor are they
payments that have been earned for any work done by Cenlar or an affiliate related to the placement
of the insurance; they are unlawful kickbacks to Cenlar for the exclusive arrangement to force-place
insurance.

30.  The money paid back to Cenlar and its affiliates is not given in exchange for any
services provided by them; it is simply grease paid to keep the force-placed machine moving. In
an attempt to mask the kickbacks as legitimate, ASIC, in letters purporting to come from Cenlar,

10
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will often disclose to the borrower that Cenlar or its affiliates may earn commissions or
compensation as a result of the forced placement of new coverage. In reality, however, no work
is ever done by Cenlar or its affiliates to procure insurance for that particular borrower because the
coverage comes through the master policy already in place — and the process is largely automated
by ASIC. As aresult, no commission or compensation is “earned” and, in addition, neither Cenlar
nor its affiliates incur any costs in relation to force-placing insurance on any particular borrower
and therefore no “expense reimbursement” is due.

31.  Once the certificate of insurance is issued on an individual borrower, Cenlar then
charges the borrower the full, “pre-rebate” amount for the coverage while purporting to charge the
borrower the cost of the insurance coverage in keeping with the borrower’s mortgage agreement.
The inflated amount is either deducted from the borrower’s mortgage escrow account or added to
the balance of the borrower’s loan.> The borrower’s escrow account is depleted irrespective of
whether other escrow charges, such as property taxes, are also due and owing. Through the process

of an escrow analysis or adjustment, the borrower’s mortgage payment is significantly increased.

32. Under this highly profitable force-placed insurance scheme, Cenlar is incentivized
to purchase and force-place insurance coverage with artificially inflated premiums on a borrower’s
property because the higher the cost of the insurance policy, the higher the kickback. And, as a
result of the kickbacks, Cenlar effectively pays a reduced amount for force-placed insurance
coverage but does not pass these savings on to its borrowers.

33.  ASIC and Cenlar also enter into agreements for ASIC to provide mortgage

% On some occasions, when a borrower does not have an escrow account, an escrow account with
a negative balance is created and the borrower is charged to bring the balance to zero.
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servicing activities on Cenlar’s entire loan portfolio at below cost. These activities include, but
are not limited to, services such as new loan boarding, escrow administration, and loss draft
functions — many of which have little or nothing to do with force-placed insurance. ASIC offers
to take on these mortgage servicing functions — which are Cenlar’s responsibility pursuant to its
agreements with the owners of the loans — at a discount to maintain its exclusive right to force-
place insurance on Cenlar borrowers. Indeed, ASIC does not perform these services for a lender
without also being the exclusive provider of force-placed insurance.

34.  The full costs of the servicing activities are added into the force-placed amounts
which are then passed on to the borrower. ASIC and its affiliates are able to provide these services
at below cost because of the enormous profits they make from the hyper-inflated amounts charged
for force-placed insurance. However, because insurance-lapsed mortgaged property typically
comprises only 1-2% of the lenders’ total mortgage portfolio, the borrowers who pay the charges
from Cenlar unfairly bear the entire cost to service the entire loan portfolio — despite many of the
services having nothing to do with force-placed insurance. These charges, passed on to Plaintiffs
and the proposed Class members, are not properly chargeable to the borrower because they are
expenses associated with the servicing of all the loans and the loan servicers are already
compensated for these activities by the owners of the loans (e.g., Fannie Mae).

35.  The small percentage of borrowers who are charged for force-placed insurance
shoulder the costs of monitoring Cenlar’s entire loan portfolio, effectively resulting in a kickback.

36. In addition, upon information and belief, ASIC enters into essentially riskless
“captive reinsurance arrangements” with Cenlar’s affiliates to “reinsure” the property insurance
force-placed on borrowers. A recent American Banker article illustrated this reinsurance problem
using JPMorgan Chase’s program by way of example:

12
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JPMorgan and other mortgage servicers reinsure the property insurance
they buy on behalf of mortgage borrowers who have stopped paying for
their own coverage. In JPMorgan’s case, 75% of the total force-placed
premiums cycle back to the bank through a reinsurance affiliate. This has
raised further questions about the force-placed market’s arrangements. . . .
Over the last five years, Chase has received $660 million in reinsurance
payments and commissions on force-placed policies, according to New
York’s DFS. . ..
Of every hundred dollars in premiums that JPMorgan Chase borrowers pay
to Assurant, the bank ends up keeping $58 in profit, DFS staff asserted. The
agency suggested the bank’s stake in force-placed insurance may encourage
it to accept unjustifiably high prices by Assurant and to avoid filing claims
on behalf of borrowers, since that would lower its reinsurer’s returns.
The DFS staff also questioned the lack of competition in the industry, noting
that Assurant and QBE have undertaken acquisitions that give them long-
term control of 90% of the market. Further limiting competition are the
companies’ tendency to file identical rates in many states, Lawsky and his
staff argue.

J. Horwitz, Chase Reinsurance Deals Draw New York Regulator’s Attacks, AM. BANKER, May 18,

2012, available at http://www.americanbanker.com/issues/177_97/chase-reinsurance-deals-

regulator-attack-1049460-1.html.

37. Cenlar’s reinsurance program, like those of other lenders, is simply a way to funnel
profits, in the form of ceded premiums, to Cenlar at borrowers’ expense. While reinsurance can,
and often does, serve a legitimate purpose, here it does not. On information and belief, Cenlar or
its affiliates enter into reinsurance agreements with ASIC that provide that the insurer will return
significant percentages of the force-placed insurance charges by way of ceded reinsurance
premiums to Cenlar affiliates or subsidiaries — which in turn pass on these profits to Cenlar. The
ceded premiums are nothing more than a kickback to Cenlar and a method for Cenlar to profit
from the forced placement of new coverage. Indeed, while Cenlar or its affiliates purportedly
provided reinsurance, they did not assume any real risk.

13
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38. The amounts charged borrowers are also inflated by the interest that accrues on the
amounts owed for force-placed coverage; when Cenlar adds the charge for the force-placed
insurance to a homeowner’s mortgage balance, it thereby increases the interest paid over the life
of the loan by the homeowner to the lender.

39.  The actions and practices described above are unconscionable and undertaken in
bad faith with the sole objective to maximize profits. Borrowers who for whatever reason have
stopped paying for insurance or are under-insured on mortgaged property are charged hyper-
inflated and illegitimate noncompetitive amounts for force-placed insurance. These charges are
inflated to include undisclosed kickbacks to the Defendants or their affiliates (who, as described
above, perform little to no functions related to the force-placement of the individual policies), as
well as the cost of captive reinsurance arrangements, and discounted mortgage servicing functions.

40. Borrowers have no say in the selection of the force-placed insurance carrier or the
terms of the force-placed insurance policies. Force-placed policies are commercial insurance
policies with rates and premiums intended for all lender or servicer clients of ASIC in a particular
State and are meant to protect their interest in the property.* The terms are determined by the
lender or servicer - Cenlar, and the insurer - ASIC. Because they are commercial policies,
borrowers cannot purchase or directly pay ASIC for the force-placed policies on their own.

41. Plaintiffs here do not challenge Cenlar’s right to force place insurance in the first
instance. They challenge Defendants’ manipulation of the force-placed insurance market whereby
Cenlar selects a force-placed provider, ASIC, that will provide it the best package of kickbacks

that provide effective rebates to Cenlar and with an eye toward artificially inflating the amounts

*Indeed, ASIC’s master insurance policy is entitled “Mortgagee Interest Protection” and it is the
lender or servicer named as the insured on the certificates that are issued.
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charged for force-placed insurance to maintain those unlawful kickback arrangements. That is,
lenders or servicers, like Cenlar, are financially motivated to utilize the insurer, like ASIC, that

99 ¢

offers it the best financial benefit in the terms of “commissions,” “expense reimbursements,”
discounted mortgage servicing functions, or ceded reinsurance premiums.

Government and Requlatory Scrutiny of the Force-Placed Industry

42. It is no surprise that these practices have come under increased scrutiny in recent
years by the government and regulators. For example:

e At hearings before the New York Department of Financial Services
(“NYDFS”) on May 17, 2012 related to the force-placed insurance market,
the Superintendent of Financial Services, Benjamin Lawsky, stated that the
Department’s initial inquiry uncovered “serious concerns and red flags”
which included: 1) exponentially higher premiums, 2) extraordinarily low
loss ratios, 3) lack of competition in the market, and 4) tight relationships
between the banks, their subsidiaries, and insurers. He went on to state:

In sum when you combine [the] close and intricate web of
relationships between the banks and insurance companies on
the one hand, with high premiums, low loss ratios, and lack
of competition on the other hand, it raises serious
questions....

e On March 21, 2013, the NYDFS’s, investigation into force-placed
insurance practices “produced a major settlement with the country’s largest
‘force-placed’ insurer, Assurant, Inc. . . . [The settlement] includes
restitution for homeowners who were harmed, a $14 million penalty paid to
the State of New York, and industry-leading reforms that will save
homeowners, taxpayers, and investors millions of dollars going forward
through lower rates.”® Further, under the Consent Order entered, Assurant
and its subsidiaries (including Defendant ASIC here), are prohibited from
paying commissions to any servicers or entity affiliated with a servicer on

® See Cuomo Administration Settles with Country’s Largest Force-Placed Insurer, Leading
Nationwide Reform Effort and Saving Homeowners, Taxpayers, and Investors Millions of Dollars,
Dep’t of Fin. Servs., Mar. 21, 2013, available at,
http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/press2013/pr1303211.htm.
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force-placed insurance policies obtained by the servicer.®

e The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) has
expressed concern with the “reverse competition” in the force-placed
insurance market whereby the insurers compete by offering mortgage
lenders and servicers a share in the profits, rather than by offering lower
prices. The NAIC’s website explains:

A key regulatory concern with the growing use of lender-placed
insurance is “reverse competition,” where the lender chooses the
coverage provider and amounts, yet the consumer is obligated to
pay the cost of coverage. Reverse competition is a market
condition that tends to drive up prices to the consumers, as the
lender is not motivated to select the lowest price for coverage
since the cost is born by the borrower. Normally competitive
forces tend to drive down costs for consumers. However, in this
case, the lender is motivated to select coverage from an insurer
looking out for the lender’s interest rather than the borrower.’

e The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s new regulations on force-
placed insurance became final on January 17, 2013 and prohibit servicers
of federally regulated mortgage loans from force-placing insurance unless
the servicer has a reasonable basis to the believe the borrower’s insurance
has lapsed and require the servicer to provide three notices of the force-
placement in advance of issuing the certificate of insurance.®

e On October 7, 2013 ASIC entered into a Consent Order with the Florida
Office of Insurance Regulation (“FLOIR”) because of FLOIR’s “concerns
regarding ASIC’s business practices.” ASIC agreed to cease some of the
same practices complained of here including:

o Paying “commissions” to a Servicer or its affiliate;

o Reinsuring force-placed policies with a captive insurer of the
Servicer;

o Providing free or below-cost outsourced services to Servicers; and

o Making incentive payments, including payment of expenses to

6 See http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/ea/eal30321.pdf, at 9.
7 See http://www.naic.org/cipr_topics/topic_lender_placed_insurance.htm.
8 See Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Proposes Rules to Protect Mortgage Borrowers”

available at http://www.consumerfinance.gov/pressreleases/consumer-financial-protection-
bureau-proposes-rules-to-protect-mortgage-borrowers/
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Servicers.’

e On December 18, 2013, Fannie Mae issued its Servicing Guide
Announcement related to force-placed insurance that, among other things,
prohibits servicers from including any commissions, bonuses, or other
incentive compensation in the amounts charged to borrowers for force-
placed insurance and further requires that the force-placed insurance carrier
cannot be an affiliated entity of the servicer.°

43, This action is brought to put an end to Defendants’ exclusive, collusive, and
uncompetitive arrangements. Plaintiffs seek to recover the improper charges passed on to them
and other Cenlar borrowers nationwide through their claims for breach of contract, breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, tortious interference with a
contract or advantageous business relationship, and violations of the Federal Truth in Lending Act

(“TILA”), and the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”).

Plaintiffs — Harry Jones and Glory Jones

44.  Plaintiff Harry Jones took a mortgage loan from Prospect Mortgage, LLC in
December 2010 on a property in Miami-Dade County, Florida. At all relevant times, the mortgage
loan was serviced by Cenlar.

45, In December 2012, Mr. Jones executed a Quit Claim Deed on the property for his
daughter-in-law, Glory Jones. Ms. Jones has been responsible for all mortgage and escrow
payments since that time.

46.  Paragraphs 4 and 7 of the Jones’ mortgage contract state in pertinent part as
follows:

4. Fire, Flood and Other Hazard Insurance. Borrower shall insure
all improvements on the Property, whether now in existence or

°See In the Matter of American Security Insurance Company,
http://www.assurantspecialtyproperty.com/Documents/FL_ASIC_Consent_Order_100713.pdf

10 See https://www.fanniemae.com/content/announcement/svc1327.pdf
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subsequently erected, against any hazards, casualties, and contingencies,
including fire, for which the Lender requires insurance. This insurance shall
be maintained in the amounts and for the periods that Lender requires.
Borrower shall also insure al improvements on the Property, whether now
in existence or subsequently erected, against loss by floods to the extent
required by the Secretary. All insurance shall be carried with companies
approved by the Lender. The insurance policies and any renewals shall be
held by Lender and shall include loss payable clauses in favor of, and in a
form acceptable to, Lender.

In the event of loss, Borrower shall give Lender immediate notice by mail.
Lender may make proof of loss if not made promptly by Borrower. Each
insurance company concerned is hereby authorized and directed to make
payment for such loss directly to Lender, instead of to Borrower and to
Lender jointly. All or any part of the insurance proceeds may be applied by
Lender, at its option, either (a) to the reduction of the indebtedness under
the Note and this Security Instrument, first to any delinquent amounts
applied in the order in paragraph 3, and then to prepayment of principal, or
(b) to the restoration or repair of the damaged Property. Any application of
the proceeds to the principal shall not extend or postpone the due date of the
monthly payments which are referred to in paragraph 2, or change the
amount of such payments. Any excess insurance proceeds over an amount
required to pay all outstanding indebtedness under the Note and this
Security Instrument shall be paid to the entity legally entitled thereto.

In the event of foreclosure of this Security Instrument or other transfer of
title to the Property that extinguishes the indebtedness, all right, title and
interest of Borrower in and to insurance policies in force shall pass to the
purchaser.

7. Charges to Borrower and Protection of Lender’s Rights in the
Property. Borrower shall pay all governmental or municipal charges, fines
and impositions that are not included in paragraph 2. Borrower shall pay
these obligations on time directly to the entity which is owed the payment.
If failure to pay would adversely affect Lender’s interest in the Property,
upon Lender’s request Borrower shall promptly furnish to Lender receipts
evidencing these payments.

If Borrower fails to make these payments or the payments required by
paragraph 2, or fails to perform any other covenants and agreements
contained in this Security Instrument, or there is a legal proceeding that may
significantly affect Lender’s rights in the Property (such as a proceeding in
bankruptcy, for condemnation or to enforce laws or regulations), then
Lender may do and pay whatever is necessary to protect the value of the
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Property and Lender’s rights in the Property, including payment of taxes,
hazard insurance and other items mentioned in paragraph 2.

Any amounts disbursed by Lender under this paragraph shall become an
additional debt of Borrower and be secured by this Security Instrument.
These amounts shall bear interest from the date of disbursement at the Note
rate, and at the option of Lender shall be immediately due and payable.
Borrower shall promptly discharge any lien which has priority over this
Security Instrument unless Borrower: (a) agrees in writing to payment of
the obligation secured by the lien in a manner acceptable to Lender; (b)
contests in good faith the lien by, or defends against enforcement of the lien
in, legal proceedings which in the Lender’s opinion operate to prevent the
enforcement of the lien; or (c) secures from the holder of the lien an
agreement satisfactory to Lender subordinating the lien to this Security
Instrument. If Lender determines that any party of the Property is subject to
a lien which may attain priority over this Security Instrument, Lender may
give Borrower a notice identifying the lien. Borrower shall satisfy the lien
or take one or more of the actions set forth above within 10 days of the
giving of notice.
Plaintiffs’ mortgage contract is attached as Exhibit A.

47. In or around December of 2013, Plaintiffs voluntary hazard insurance policy lapsed.
Cenlar then purchased a hazard force-placed insurance policy through ASIC and force-placed it
on their property. Plaintiffs have had a force-placed policy through ASIC on the property since
that time and have either paid or still owe the amounts for the force-placed charges to Cenlar.

48.  Pursuant to the automated procedures in place, Plaintiffs received letters regarding
the force-placement of the ASIC insurance including a letter renewing the insurance on February
4, 2016 which purportedly came from Cenlar but was in fact sent by ASIC.

49.  The letter misrepresented to Plaintiffs that Cenlar would be charging them for the
“cost” of the insurance and that the higher “cost” of the force-placed insurance policy was “because
the insurance we purchase is issued automatically without evaluating the risk of insuring your

property,” when in fact Cenlar does not charge borrowers the cost of the insurance because as a

result of the kickbacks, it pays less for the insurance than what it charges to Plaintiffs and other
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borrowers. Further the higher cost of the force-placed insurance policy was due to the kickback
scheme that Defendants have enacted and not due to lack of a risk evaluation.!

50. At no time did any Defendants disclose, in the letters or by any other means, that
an exclusive relationship between Cenlar and ASIC was in place and that because of the kickbacks,
provided to Cenlar, it would effectively be paying a less than what it would charge to Plaintiffs
and the Class for the force-placed insurance coverage.

51. It was also never disclosed to Plaintiffs or the Class members that the amounts
charged them covered below cost mortgage-servicing functions that ASIC performs for Cenlar and
that Plaintiffs and the putative Class members charges would be subsidizing these functions that
are often not related to the placement of insurance, that are already paid for by the owners of the
loans, and therefore are not properly charged to them. The amounts kicked back to Cenlar were
not reduced from the amount charged resulting in Plaintiffs paying more than the “cost” of the
insurance.

52.  All putative Class members received materially similar letters pursuant to the
automated procedures used by Defendants.

53. There are no material differences between these Defendants’ actions and practices
directed to Plaintiffs and their actions and practices directed to the putative class.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

A. Class Definitions

54.  Plaintiffs bring this action against Defendants pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of themselves and all other persons similarly situated. Plaintiffs

11 In his testimony before the NYDFS, an insurance expert, Robert Hunter, argued that, “lack of
underwriting should also result in much lower acquisition expenses for FPI insurers, since no sales
force is required to place the insurance.” See Hunter NYDFS Testimony at 5.
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seek to represent the following classes:

Nationwide class:

All borrowers who, within the applicable statutes of limitation, were
charged for a force-placed insurance policy through Cenlar or its affiliates,
entities, or subsidiaries. Excluded from this class are Defendants, their
affiliates, subsidiaries, agents, board members, directors, officers, and/or
employees.

Florida Subclass:

All Florida borrowers who, within the applicable statutes of limitation, were
charged for a force-placed insurance policy through Cenlar or its affiliates,
entities, or subsidiaries. Excluded from this class are Defendants, their
affiliates, subsidiaries, agents, board members, directors, officers, and/or
employees.
55. Plaintiffs reserve the right to modify or amend the definitions of the proposed
classes before the Court determines whether certification is appropriate.
56. Defendants subjected Plaintiffs and the respective Class members to the same
unfair, unlawful, and deceptive practices and harmed them in the same manner.
B. Numerosity
57.  The proposed classes are so numerous that joinder of all members would be
impracticable. Defendants sell and service millions of mortgage loans and insurance policies in
Florida as well as nationwide. The individual Class members are ascertainable, as the names and
addresses of all Class members can be identified in the business records maintained by Defendants.
The precise number of Class members for the classes numbers at least in the thousands and can
only be obtained through discovery, but the numbers are clearly more than can be consolidated in

one complaint such that it would be impractical for each member to bring suit individually.

Plaintiffs do not anticipate any difficulties in the management of the action as a class action.
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C. Commonality

58. There are questions of law and fact that are common to Plaintiffs’ and Class
members’ claims. These common questions predominate over any questions that go particularly
to any individual member of the Classes. Among such common questions of law and fact are the
following:

a. Whether Defendants charged borrowers for unnecessary insurance coverage including,
but not limited to, insurance coverage that exceeded the amount required by law or the
borrowers’ mortgages;

b. Whether Cenlar breached its mortgage contracts with Plaintiffs and the Class members
by charging them for force-placed insurance that included illegal kickbacks (including
unwarranted commissions or qualified expense reimbursements, and reinsurance
payments) and by charging Plaintiffs and the Class members for servicing their loans;

c. Whether Cenlar has been unjustly enriched at the expense of the Plaintiffs and the Class
members;

d. Whether Cenlar breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by
seeking out a force-placed insurer that would provide it the best deal in terms of
kickbacks and by entering into exclusive arrangements with ASIC and/or its affiliates,
which resulted in Cenlar paying less for the force-placed insurance coverage than what
it charged to Plaintiffs and the Class members;

e. Whether Defendants manipulated forced-placed insurance purchases in order to
maximize their profits to the detriment of Plaintiffs and the Class members;

f. Whether Cenlar or its affiliates perform any work or services in exchange for the
“commissions” or other “compensation” they collect;

g. Whether the “qualified expense reimbursements” received by Cenlar are for true
expenses or are just kickbacks pursuant to their exclusive relationship with ASIC;

h. Whether Cenlar’s charges to Plaintiffs and the Class members are inflated to include
kickbacks and unwarranted “commissions” or “expense reimbursements;”

i.  Whether Cenlar’s charges are inflated to compensate for mortgage servicing activities
that ASIC and its affiliates provide to Cenlar, and which are not chargeable to Plaintiffs
and the Class members under the terms of their mortgages;

J-  Whether the charges are inflated to include the cost of an unlawful captive reinsurance
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arrangement;

k. Whether Cenlar violated the federal Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”) by conditioning
its extensions of credit on the purchase of insurance through an affiliate, in direct
contravention of the anti-coercion disclosures included in borrowers’ mortgages;

I. Whether Cenlar violated TILA by failing to disclose kickbacks charged to Plaintiffs
and the Class members in their mortgages;

m. Whether ASIC intentionally and unjustifiably interfered with Plaintiffs’ and the Class
members’ rights under the mortgage contracts by paying kickbacks and providing free
or below-cost mortgage servicing functions to Cenlar or its affiliates thereby inducing
a breach of the contract;

n. Whether Defendants were associated with the enterprise and agreed and conspired to
violate the federal RICO statutes; and

0. Whether Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to damages and/or injunctive
relief as a result of Defendants’ conduct.

D. Typicality
59.  Plaintiffs are members of the Classes they seek to represent. Plaintiffs’ claims are

typical of the Class members’ claims because of the similarity, uniformity, and common purpose
of the Defendants’ unlawful conduct. Each Class member has sustained, and will continue to
sustain, damages in the same manner as Plaintiffs as a result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct.

E. Adequacy of Representation

60. Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the classes they seek to represent and will
fairly and adequately protect the interests of that class. Plaintiffs are committed to the vigorous
prosecution of this action and have retained competent counsel, experienced in litigation of this
nature, to represent them. There is no hostility between Plaintiffs and the unnamed Class members.
Plaintiffs anticipate no difficulty in the management of this litigation as a class action.

61. To prosecute this case, Plaintiffs have chosen the undersigned law firms, which are
very experienced in class action litigation and have the financial and legal resources to meet the
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substantial costs and legal issues associated with this type of litigation.

F. Requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)

62.  The questions of law or fact common to Plaintiffs’ and each Class member’s claims
predominate over any questions of law or fact affecting only individual members of the class. All
claims by Plaintiffs and the unnamed Class members are based on Defendants’ scheme regarding
the force-placed insurance policies and their deceptive and egregious actions involved in securing
the force-placed policy.

63.  Common issues predominate when, as here, liability can be determined on a class-
wide basis, even when there will be some individualized damages determinations.

64.  As a result, when determining whether common questions predominate, courts
focus on the liability issue, and if the liability issue is common to the class as is the case at bar,
common questions will be held to predominate over individual questions.

G. Superiority

65.  Aclass action is superior to individual actions in part because of the non-exhaustive
factors listed below:

@ Joinder of all class members would create extreme hardship and
inconvenience for the affected customers as they reside all across the states;

(b) Individual claims by class members are impractical because the
costs to pursue individual claims exceed the value of what any one class
member has at stake. As a result, individual class members have no interest
in prosecuting and controlling separate actions;

(©) There are no known individual class members who are interested in
individually controlling the prosecution of separate actions;

(d) The interests of justice will be well served by resolving the common
disputes of potential class members in one forum;

(e) Individual suits would not be cost effective or economically
maintainable as individual actions; and
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()] The action is manageable as a class action.

H. Requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1) & (2)

66.  Prosecuting separate actions by or against individual Class members would create
a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual class members that would
establish incompatible standards of conduct for the party opposing the class.

67. Defendants have acted or failed to act in a manner generally applicable to the class,
thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with respect
to the Class as a whole.

COUNT |

BREACH OF CONTRACT
(against Cenlar)

68.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1-53 as if fully set forth herein and
further allege as follows.

69.  Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Class members have mortgages that are owned
and/or serviced by Cenlar.

70.  Plaintiffs and these Class members’ mortgages are written on uniform mortgage
forms and contain substantially similar provisions regarding force-placed insurance requirements
and its placement by Cenlar. The force-placed provisions from Plaintiffs’ mortgages are set forth
above in paragraph 46.

71.  Plaintiffs’ mortgages require that they maintain insurance on their property and
provide that if they fail to do so, then the lender may obtain insurance coverage to protect its
interest in the property, “force place” the coverage, and charge the borrower the cost.

72. Cenlar, however, charges Plaintiffs and other borrowers more than its “cost” of
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coverage. After Cenlar pays ASIC a premium for its master policy, ASIC pays Cenlar gratuitous
kickbacks in the form of unmerited and falsely labeled, “qualified expense reimbursements,”
unearned “commissions,” riskless reinsurance payments, and subsidies for discounted mortgage-
servicing functions. These amounts are effective rebates on the cost of coverage, and are not
applied to protecting Cenlar’s rights or risk in the collateral for borrowers’ mortgage loans. Cenlar
breached the mortgage agreements by, among other things, not giving borrowers the benefit of
these rebates and thus charging Plaintiffs and Class members more than its actual cost of coverage.

73. Cenlar has also breached Plaintiffs’ and the Class members’ mortgage agreements
by charging Plaintiffs and the Class members for excess and unnecessary force-placed insurance
coverage, as such coverage does not protect Cenlar’s rights in their collateral or cover their risk.

74.  Plaintiffs and the Class members have suffered damages as a result of the Cenlar’s
breaches of the contract.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated class
members, seek compensatory damages resulting from the Cenlar’s breach of contract, as well as
injunctive relief preventing them from further violating the terms of the Class members’
mortgages. Plaintiffs further seek all relief deemed appropriate by this Court, including attorneys’
fees and costs.

COUNT Il

BREACH OF IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING
(against Cenlar)

75. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1-53 as if fully set forth herein and
further allege as follows.
76. A covenant of good faith and fair dealing is implied in every contract and imposes

upon each party a duty of good faith and fair dealing in its performance. Common law calls for
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substantial compliance with the spirit, not just the letter, of a contract in its performance.

77.  Where an agreement affords one party the power to make a discretionary decision
without defined standards, the duty to act in good faith limits that party’s ability to act capriciously
to contravene the reasonable contractual expectations of the other party.

78.  Plaintiffs’ and the Class members’ mortgage contracts allow Cenlar to force place
insurance coverage on the borrower in the event of a lapse in coverage, but do not define standards
for selecting an insurer or procuring an insurance policy.

79.  Cenlar is afforded substantial discretion in force-placing insurance coverage. It is
permitted to unilaterally choose the company from which it purchases force-placed insurance and
negotiates any price for the coverage it procures. Cenlar has an obligation to exercise the discretion
afforded it in good faith, and not capriciously or in bad faith. Plaintiffs do not seek to vary the
express terms of the mortgage contract, but only to insure that Cenlar exercises its discretion in
good faith.

80.  Cenlar breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by, among
other things:

@ Manipulating the force-placed insurance market by selecting insurers (here,

ASIC and its affiliates) that will provide the best package of kickbacks and
artificially inflate force-placed insurance charges to include the kickbacks
to Cenlar or its affiliates and by failing to seek competitive bids on the open
market and instead contracting to create “back room” deals whereby an
exclusive arrangement is in place for ASIC to issue its own insurance
coverage without Cenlar seeking a competitive price;

(b) Exercising its discretion to choose a force-placed insurance policy in bad

faith and in contravention of the parties’ reasonable expectations, by
purposefully selecting force-placed insurance policies with artificially

inflated charges to maximize its own profits;

(c) Assessing inflated and unnecessary insurance policy charges against
Plaintiffs and the Class and misrepresenting the reason for the cost of the
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policies;

(d) Receiving an effective rebate on the force-placed insurance coverage but
not passing that rebate on to the borrower, thereby creating the incentive to
seek the highest-priced premiums possible;

(e Charging Plaintiffs and the Class the cost of having the vendor perform its
obligation of servicing its mortgage portfolio, which is not properly
chargeable to Plaintiffs or the Class;

() Charging Plaintiffs and the Class for expense reimbursements or
commissions when the insurance is prearranged, no work is done by Cenlar
or its affiliates, no expenses related to the placement of the force-placed
insurance are incurred, and no commission is due; and

(h) Charging Plaintiffs and the Class an inflated charge for the force-placed
insurance due to the captive reinsurance arrangement.

81.  As a direct, proximate, and legal result of the aforementioned breaches of the
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered damages.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and similarly situated Class members,
seek a judicial declaration that the amounts charged and the terms of the force-placed insurance
policies violate the duties of good faith and fair dealing. Plaintiffs also seek damages resulting
from the Cenlar’s breaches of its duties. Plaintiffs further seek all relief deemed appropriate by
this Court, including attorneys’ fees and costs.

COUNT 11

UNJUST ENRICHMENT
(against Cenlar)*?

82.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1-53 as if fully set forth herein and
further allege as follows.

83. Cenlar received benefits from Plaintiffs and Class members in the form of

2Plaintiffs plead their unjust enrichment claim against Cenlar in the alternative to their contractual
claims against them.
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unwarranted kickbacks, including “expense reimbursements” or ‘“commissions,” captive
reinsurance arrangements, and subsidized loan servicing costs.

84.  Cenlar entered into an agreement whereby the insurance vendor — here, ASIC and
its affiliates — would provide below cost mortgage servicing activities and cover Cenlar’s entire
portfolio of loans with a master policy and issue certificates of insurance when a borrower’s
voluntary policy lapsed. Cenlar would then charge Plaintiffs and the Class amounts for the force-
placed insurance that had been artificially inflated to include the kickbacks described above and
then retain the amounts of those kickbacks for itself. The force-placed policies imposed on
borrowers therefore cost less than what Cenlar actually paid for them.

85.  ASIC paid kickbacks directly to Cenlar or its affiliates in order to be able to
exclusively provide force-placed insurance policies. ASIC and its affiliates were mere conduits
for the delivery of the kickbacks and improper charges to Cenlar or its affiliates.

86.  These payments directly benefitted Cenlar and/or its affiliates and were taken to the
detriment of the borrower. The kickbacks (in the form reimbursements, commissions, or
reinsurance arrangements, as well as subsidized costs) were subsumed into what Cenlar charged
to borrowers for the force-placed insurance and ultimately paid by them. Therefore, Cenlar had
the incentive to charge and collect unreasonably inflated prices for the force-placed policies.

87. Further, Cenlar was unjustly enriched through financial benefits in the form of
increased interest income and other fees that resulted when the amounts for the force-placed
insurance policies were added to the Class members’ mortgage.

88. As a result, Plaintiffs and the Class members have conferred a benefit on Cenlar.

89. Cenlar had knowledge of this benefit and voluntarily accepted and retained the
benefit conferred on it.
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90. Cenlar will be unjustly enriched if it is allowed to retain the aforementioned
benefits, and each Class member is entitled to recover the amount by which Cenlar was unjustly
enriched at his or her expense.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated Class
members, demand an award against Cenlar in the amounts by which it has been unjustly enriched
at Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members’ expense, and such other relief as this Court deems just and
proper.

COUNT IV

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP
(against ASIC)

91.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1-53 as if fully set forth herein and
further allege as follows.

92.  Plaintiffs and the Class members have advantageous business and contractual
relationships with Cenlar pursuant to the mortgage contracts. Plaintiffs and the Class members
have legal rights under these mortgage contracts. For example, Plaintiffs and the Class members
have a right not to be charged exorbitant charges in bad faith for forced-place insurance.

93.  ASIC has knowledge of the mortgage contracts and the advantageous business and
contractual relationships between Plaintiffs and the Class members and Cenlar. ASIC is not a
party to the mortgage contracts, nor is it a third-party beneficiary of the mortgage contracts.
Further, ASIC does not have any beneficial or economic interest in the mortgage contracts.

94. ASIC, in bad faith and with the intent to maximize all the Defendants’ profits,
intentionally and unjustifiably interfered with Plaintiffs’ and the Class’s rights under the mortgage
contracts, as described above, by, inter alia, entering into an exclusive relationship with Cenlar

and its affiliates, whereby they provide kickbacks (in the form of unmerited expense
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reimbursements or commissions, or reinsurance premiums without the corresponding risk, as well
as below cost mortgage servicing) to Cenlar in exchange for the exclusive right to force-place
insurance at inflated and unnecessary amounts which are purposefully and knowingly charged to
Plaintiffs and the Class members.

95.  Plaintiffs and the Class members have been damaged as a result of ASIC’s
interference with their mortgage contracts by being charged bad faith, exorbitant, and illegal
charges for force-placed insurance in contravention of their rights under the mortgages.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all Class members similarly
situated, seek a judgment in their favor against ASIC for the actual damages suffered by them as
a result of ASIC’s tortious interference. Plaintiffs also seek all costs of litigating this action,
including attorneys’ fees.

COUNT V

VIOLATIONS OF THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 1601, et sed.
(against Cenlar)

96.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1-53 as if fully set forth herein and
further allege as follows.

97.  Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members’ mortgages were consumer credit plans secured
by their principal dwellings, and were subject to the disclosure requirements of the Truth in
Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C.§ 1601, et seq., and all related regulations, commentary, and
interpretive guidance promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board.

98. Cenlar is a “creditor” as defined by TILA because it owned and/or serviced
Plaintiffs’ mortgages and changed the terms of the mortgages so as to create a new mortgage
obligation, of which Cenlar was the creditor.

99. Pursuant to TILA, Cenlar was required to accurately and fully disclose the terms of
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the legal obligations between the parties. See 12 C.F.R. 8 226.17(c).

100. Cenlar violated TILA, specifically 12 C.F.R. § 226.17(c), when it: (i) added force-
placed insurance charges to Plaintiffs’ mortgage obligations and failed to provide new disclosures;
and (ii) failed at all times to disclose the amount and nature of the kickbacks, reinsurance, discount
mortgage servicing, and other profiteering involving Cenlar and/or its affiliates as a result of the
purchase of force-placed insurance.

101. When Cenlar changed the terms of Plaintiffs’ mortgages to allow previously
unauthorized kickbacks and insurance amounts in excess of its interests in the property, it changed
the finance charge and the total amount of indebtedness, extended new and additional credit
through force-placed insurance charges, and thus created a new debt obligation. Under TILA,
Cenlar was then required to provide a new set of disclosures showing the amount of the insurance
charges (i.e. finance charges) and all components thereof. On information and belief, Cenlar
increased the principal amount under Plaintiffs’ mortgages when it force-placed the insurance,
which was a new debt obligation for which new disclosures were required.

102.  Cenlar adversely changed the terms of Plaintiffs’ loan after origination in order to
allow a kickback on the force-placed insurance charges. These kickbacks are not authorized in the
mortgage in any clear and unambiguous way. Cenlar never disclosed to borrowers the amount of
the “commissions,” “expense reimbursements,” or other unearned profits paid to them or their
affiliate.

103. Cenlar also violated TILA by adversely changing the terms of Plaintiffs’ loan after
origination by requiring and threatening to force-place more insurance than necessary to protect
its interest in the property securing the mortgages.

104.  Acts constituting violations of TILA occurred within one year prior to the filing of
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the original Complaint in this action, or are subject to equitable tolling because Cenlar’s kickbacks,
reinsurance, and other unearned revenue-generating scheme was the subject of secret agreements
among it and its affiliates and was concealed from borrowers.

105. Plaintiffs and Class members have been injured and have suffered a monetary loss
arising from Cenlar’s violations of TILA.

106. As a result of Cenlar’s TILA violations, Plaintiffs and Class members are entitled
to recover actual damages and a penalty of $500,000.00 or 1% of Cenlar’s net worth, as provided
by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1)-(2).

107. Plaintiffs and Class members are also entitled to recovery of attorneys’ fees and
costs to be paid by Cenlar, as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(3).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all Class members similarly
situated, seek a judgment in their favor against Cenlar awarding actual damages and a penalty of
$500,000.00 or 1% of Cenlar’s net worth, as provided by 15 U.S.C. §1640(a)(1)-(2), as well as of
attorneys’ fees and costs to be paid by Cenlar, as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(3).

COUNT VI

Violation of RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)
(Plaintiffs against All Defendants)

108. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-53 herein as if fully set forth herein and further
allege as follows.

109. At all relevant times, Defendants were employed by and associated with an illegal
enterprise, and conducted and participated in that enterprise’s affairs, through a pattern of
racketeering activity consisting of numerous and repeated uses of the interstate mails and wire
communications to execute a scheme to defraud, all in violation of RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

110. The RICO enterprise, which engaged in and the activities of which affected
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interstate and foreign commerce, was comprised of an association in fact of entities and individuals
that included Cenlar, its affiliates, and ASIC and its affiliates.

111. The members of the RICO enterprise had a common purpose: to increase and
maximize their revenues by forcing Plaintiffs and Class members to pay inflated amounts for
force-placed insurance through a scheme that inflated such amounts to cover kickbacks and
expenses associated with servicing Cenlar’s entire loan portfolio, and concealing from Plaintiffs
and Class members the true nature of those charges. Defendants shared the bounty of their
enterprise by sharing the illegal profits generated by the joint scheme.

112. The RICO enterprise functioned over a period of years as a continuing unit and had
a maintained an ascertainable structure separate and distinct from the pattern of racketeering
activity.

113. Cenlar and ASIC conducted and participated in the affairs of this RICO enterprise
through a pattern of racketeering activity that projects into the future, lasted more than one year,
and that consisted of numerous and repeated violations of federal mail and wire fraud statutes,
which prohibit the use of any interstate or foreign wire or mail facility for the purpose of executing
a scheme to defraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343.

114.  ASIC directed and controlled the enterprise as follows:

a. ASIC specifically developed and implemented guidelines and standards for the
timing and content of the cycle of deceptive letters sent to borrowers about force-
placed insurance, to which Cenlar agreed;

b. ASIC drafted the language of the fraudulent letters and correspondence to
borrowers that was specifically designed to deceive borrowers into believing that
they were coming from the Cenlar. The letters fraudulently misrepresented the
true nature of the “cost” of the insurance forced on their properties, and these letters
were approved by the Cenlar;

c. ASIC ran the day-to-day operations of the force-placed scheme by, inter alia,
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tracking Cenlar’s portfolio, mailing a cycle of form letters to borrowers notifying
them that insurance coverage would be forced, and misrepresenting to borrowers
both that they would be charged only the costs of coverage and that a Cenlar
affiliate would be paid as compensation for work performed;

d. ASIC paid kickbacks to Cenlar and its affiliates to maintain Defendants’ exclusive
relationship and keep their force-placed scheme moving forward;

115. Cenlar directed and controlled the enterprise as follows:

a. Cenlar outsourced loan servicing functions to ASIC, including authorizing ASIC to
send the three-letter cycle of notice letters to borrowers informing them that
coverage was being forced on their properties;

b. Cenlar charged borrowers amounts for coverage above and beyond its true cost of
coverage, without disclosing to borrowers that it had received a rebate on the
“premium” indicated in their notice letters;

c. Cenlar deducted amounts from borrowers’ escrow accounts for forced coverage,
knowing that the amounts deducted exceeded its cost of coverage;

d. Cenlar charged borrowers interest on the amounts already charged for forced
coverage, knowing that the amounts deducted exceeded its cost of coverage.

116. Both Defendants directed and controlled the enterprise as follows:

a. by directing, controlling, and creating an enterprise and arrangement by which the
Cenlar would receive unearned kickbacks;

b. by directing, controlling, and creating an enterprise and arrangement by which
Cenlar would receive illegitimate revenues (ultimately charged to borrowers) in the
form of direct payments, debt forgiveness, expense reimbursements, or
“commissions,” that were merely bribes to keep the exclusive relationship in place
and not disclosing same to borrowers;

c. by directing, controlling, and creating an enterprise and program by which Cenlar
never charged the borrowers its actual or effective cost of the force-placed
insurance policies;

d. by directing, controlling, and creating an enterprise and program where ASIC took
money directly from borrowers escrow accounts and took amounts which are not
the actual or effective “cost” for lender placed insurance but instead, including
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illegal bribes and kickbacks;

e. by designing and directing an exclusive arrangement by which Defendants
manipulated the force-placed insurance market in order to artificially inflate the
amounts they charge to borrowers for force-placed insurance. The charges were
inflated to provide the Cenlar and their affiliates with kickbacks disguised as
“commissions” or expense reimbursements, or to cover the cost of discounted
mortgage servicing, and/or to provide the Cenlar with other forms of
kickbacks. ASIC and its affiliates benefit by securing business from the Cenlar—
it provides kickbacks to them at the expense of the borrowers who are charged the
inflated charges;

f. by developing and implementing guidelines and criteria to determine when force-
placed insurance is placed an a borrower’s home, in what amount, for what
coverages and for what period of time—all of which resulted in inferior and more
expensive insurance that covered time periods where no claims were made or
resulted in “double coverage;” and

g. by developing and implementing an automated system to send the cycle of
deceptive letters to borrowers, to determine the type, time period and amount of
substandard and unnecessary coverage, and to remove or charge borrowers’ escrow
accounts automatically for improper and inflated charges.

117. In order to further its control and direction of the enterprise, ASIC paid bribes and
kickbacks to Cenlar disguised as commissions, direct payments, reinsurance premiums, expense

reimbursements, and below-cost mortgage servicing functions.

118.  As part of and in furtherance of the scheme to defraud, Defendants made numerous
material omissions and misrepresentations to Plaintiffs and Class members with the intent to
defraud and deceive them.

119. For example, ASIC, with the approval of the Cenlar, sent form letters to Plaintiffs
on Cenlar letterhead through the U.S. mail, stating that Cenlar would purchase or renew force-
placed coverage if voluntary insurance was not secured by a certain date. These Defendants
represented in the letters that Cenlar would purchase the required coverage and charge the borrower

“the cost of the insurance.” In making these statements, Defendants knowingly and intentionally
36

1023759



Case 1:16-cv-22428-XXXX Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 06/23/2016 Page 37 of 42

falsely stated that the amounts for force-placed insurance that Plaintiffs were charged represented
the actual cost of the insurance premiums, when in fact such amounts also included kickbacks and
other costs paid as bribes to the Cenlar, and Plaintiffs were charged significantly more than Cenlar
had paid for coverage.

120. Defendants had a duty to correct this mistaken impression. These
misrepresentations and omissions were material, as they helped Defendants advance their scheme
to charge Plaintiffs unreasonably high amounts for force-placed insurance and were designed to lull
Plaintiffs and the Class into believing that the charges were legitimate. Plaintiffs (and other
homeowners) would not have paid, or would have contested these specific charges had Defendants
disclosed that the illegal bribes and kickbacks were included and that these forced-charges did not
represent simply the cost of the required insurance coverage. One such letter was sent to Plaintiffs
on February 4, 2016 through U.S. mail.

121. ASIC and its affiliates, with the approval of the Cenlar and on Cenlar letterhead,
also sent Plaintiffs force-placed insurance notices through the U.S. mail informing them that force-
placed insurance would cost more “because the insurance we purchase is issued automatically
without evaluating the risk of insuring your property,” when in fact, the inflated amounts charged
to Plaintiffs and the class were due to kickbacks provided to Cenlar and included in the amounts
charged Plaintiffs and the Class members. Defendants had a duty to correct this mistaken
impression.

122.  This misrepresentation was material, as it gave Defendants a colorable reason to
charge Plaintiffs unreasonably inflated amounts for insurance and would have influenced Plaintiffs’
decisions whether to pay the charges or contest them. For example, had Plaintiffs known that
Cenlar was effectively paying much less than what it charged to Plaintiffs; Plaintiffs would not
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have paid or would have contested the charges for force-placed insurance. One such letter was sent
to Plaintiffs on February 4, 2016 through U.S. mail.

123.  For the purpose of executing the scheme to defraud, Defendants sent, mailed, and
transmitted, or caused to be sent, mailed, or transmitted, in interstate or foreign commerce numerous
materials, including but not limited to the notices and letters described above informing Plaintiffs
and Class members that they could charge Plaintiffs and Class members unreasonably high amounts
for force-placed insurance.

124.  This scheme to defraud proximately injured Plaintiffs and the Class members
because it prevented them from making an informed decision regarding whether to dispute or pay
the force-placed charges, or whether to allow new coverage to be placed on their property. Had
they known that the charges had been artificially inflated to include kickbacks and other improper
charges and that Cenlar was actually paying less than what it charged Plaintiffs and the Class
members, they would not have paid them or would have contested them. Defendants also
transferred sums among themselves, including but not limited to kickbacks, in furtherance of their
scheme to defraud Plaintiffs and Class members, in violation of the wire fraud statutes.

125. By reason and as a result of Defendants’ conduct and participation in the
racketeering activity alleged herein, Defendants have caused damages to Plaintiffs and Class
members in the form of unreasonably high force-placed insurance premiums.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and Class members seek compensatory and treble
damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).
COUNT VII

Violation of RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)
(Plaintiffs against all Defendants)

126. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-53 and 108-125 as if fully set forth herein and
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further allege as follows.

127. At all relevant times, Defendants were associated with the enterprise and agreed
and conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). Defendants agreed to conduct and participate,
directly and indirectly, in the conduct and affairs of the enterprise through a pattern of racketeering
activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

128. Cenlar and ASIC illegally agreed to violate RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), by, inter
alia:

a. Agreeing that ASIC and its affiliates would be Cenlar’s exclusive force-placed
insurance providers and would provide Cenlar and effective rebate on the cost of
the insurance, through the aforementioned kickbacks, that would not be passed on
to the borrowers and thereby extracting unreasonably inflated amounts from
Cenlar’s customers;

b. Agreeing that ASIC would monitor Cenlar’s mortgage portfolios for lapses in
voluntary insurance and would, with the approval of Cenlar, send misleading
notices to borrowers. These misleading notices would inform the borrowers that if
new coverage were not procured, coverage would be forced, the borrower would
be charged “the cost of the insurance” and earned “commissions” payments would
be paid to a Cenlar affiliate;

c. Entering into illusory commission or other agreements in order to disguise the true
nature of the amounts charged to borrower under the guise of force-placed
insurance; and

d. Agreeing to commit two or more predicate acts as described above in Count VI.
129. Upon information and belief, Cenlar affiliates pass profits from this scheme to
Cenlar through credits in their general ledge accounts.
130. Defendants committed and caused to be committed a series of overt acts in

furtherance of the conspiracy and to affect the objects thereof, including but not limited to the acts
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set forth above.
131. As a result of Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), Plaintiffs and Class
members suffered damages in the form of unreasonably high force-placed insurance premiums.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and Class members seek compensatory and treble damages, and
attorneys’ fees and costs, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated individuals,
demand judgment against Defendants as follows:

1) Declaring this action to be a proper class action maintainable pursuant to Rule 23(a)
and Rule 23(b)(1) and (2), or Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and declaring
Plaintiffs and their counsel to be representatives of the Class;

2 Enjoining Defendants from continuing the acts and practices described above;

3) Awarding damages sustained by Plaintiffs and the Class members as a result of
Cenlar’s breaches of the subject mortgage contracts and the implied covenant of good faith and
fair dealing, together with pre-judgment interest;

4) Finding that Cenlar has been unjustly enriched and requiring it to refund all unjust
benefits to Plaintiffs and the Class, together with pre-judgment interest;

(5) Finding that ASIC has tortuously interfered with Plaintiffs’ mortgage contracts and
awarding them actual damages as a result of that interference;

(6) Awarding Plaintiffs and the Class costs and disbursements and reasonable
allowances for the fees of Plaintiffs’ and the Class’s counsel and experts, and reimbursement of

expenses;
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(7) Awarding actual damages and a penalty of $500,000 or 1% of Cenlar’s net worth
as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640 (a)(1)-(2), and attorneys’ fees and costs as provided by 15 U.S.C.
§ 1640 (a)(3)

(8) Awarding damages sustained by Plaintiffs and the Class as a result of ASIC’s
tortious interference;

9) Awarding compensatory and treble damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs under
the federal RICO statute; and

(10)  Awarding such other and further relief the Court deems just and equitable.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs and the Class request a jury trial for any and all Counts for which a trial by jury
is permitted by law.
Respectfully submitted this 23rd day of June, 2016.

By: /s/ Adam M. Moskowitz
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change the amouns of such payments. Aay cxocas inauranoes prooeeds over an amount required o pay all cuintanding
jndobtedness under the Nots and thi Seourlty Insttument ahall be pald to the ently legally entitled therate,

I the event of forealoaurs of (him Saourlty Instramant or other tranafer of tue 10 the Property that extingulshes
the Induliadness, sl right, titte and intersst of Borrawer in rnd to insuranae polleies in forcs shall dads to the

urchaser,
P, Oteupancy, Proservation, Maintenauce and Pratection of tho Praperty; Borrower's Losn Appileatlon;
« -Lersoholds,-Borrower.shall.osoupy;-eeiabilat-and use the Bruperty.us Borrowar' ¢ principal-roaidence withinaiddy.. .. . . .l
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days aftsr the sxecution af this Soourity Instrument (or within alxty days of  lnter sabo or tcanafer of the Property)
and shall continus to occupy the Praperty 8s Borrower' s pringipal restdense for At lenst one year aficr she dits of
oeouphcy, unitss Lender detsvtnines that requirement will cauas undue hardship for Borrower, or unlosy exwnueting
clroumstanaes oxlft which are heyond Borrower's control. Borrower xhall notéy Lender of any extenuating
clreumstances. Borrower shall not commit waste or dastroy, damaga of substantially ahangs the Propoity of pllow .
tho Property to deteriornte, ronanetle wanr and tear axceptil, Lander may inspact the Property If' the Proparty ls '
vagat or ahandoned of the loan I in default, Lendsr may take ragsonable ection 1o protast and presorve pioh vaoun!
or ubindoned Property, Borrower shall also ke in default If Barrower, during e loan applloation proguey, gave
muturlatly flse or Inasolrate Infornation of attemdnts 1 Lendar (or Mlled (o provide Lender with any matstial
[nformation) In connsetion with the Joan evidenced by the Nate, [nofuding, but not fimited o, repragantetions
cancatnlag Botrower's cuoupansy of the Property as 8 principal residence. If this Security Inetrument s on @
Jougehold, Borrower shall comply with the previsions of the leags. 17 Borrowsr acquires foe tils to the Property, the §
lenschold and fos ttte shell not be marged tnloss Leadur agravy ko the merger In writing. .
4 Condompafion, The proceads of any award or oIl for damagas, dlrsey or consequentlal, In connection ;
with any condemnation or cther wkinig of nny part of the Froporty, ot for corivayance in placs of condemnation, are '
horeby sesigned and sha|] be paid to Lender o tho extent of tha full nmount of the indebladnesy that remaind wipaid '
under the Note and this Seauelty Inarument. lender shell npply such prouesds to the raduction of the Indebddsoss
under the Note aad thle Seourlry (netrument, firsk le any delinguent amounta applled in the order provided In ‘
paragraph 3, and thet) to prepayment of prinaipel, Any applicslon of the proceods 10 the gsmlpal shail not extend '
of puilpany the dua date of the monthly pRymeny, which are rofsrred 10 In paragregh 2, or change the amaunt ot kueh t
payments, Any excesu procseds over an aimount required & pay ali autstanding Indebtudness under the Note and thls ‘
Seourity Inwrument shall be paid to tha entity legaily enthiled thereta, :
%, Chargus to Borrowor and Protection of Lander's Rights In cho Proverty. Borrower ghalf pay ull i
governmental or munloipal chargos, finos and impoaltions that are not lncluded In paragraph 2, Borrowar shall pey |
thess obligetions on time direotly ta the enllty whish lv owed the payment, If fuliure to pay would ndversaly affect \
Lender's Yptoraat Ty the Property, upon Lehder's roquent Borrower shall promptly furnish to Lender recsipts
evldanelig these paymants, i
1f Borpower Galle (o make these paymenta of the payments tequired by paragraph 2, or fails to parform any other .
sevenants and agreements dontalned In this Seourity Instrument, or thets \a n legai procweding that may slgnifioontiy ;
alfool Londer' s righia fn the Property (such 88 & proceeding in Eankruptoy, &or eondomnotich ©F (0 enforce laws or '
rogulaticia), than Lender may do and pay whaisvar i necasawry t peotent the valie of the Froperty ad Londer's
elghtz 1 the Property, Including paymant of taxes, hazard Insurance and other ltema mentioned In parsgreph 2.
w pinounts disburscd by Londer under tils paragraph shall hecoma an wdditionnl debi of Borrower sad be
seoured by this Seourity Instrument. Thess amaunss shall boar Intercst fram tha data of dlsbursument ai the Noe rate,
Wid &t the option of Lender sfisll be immoadiately du andl payable.
Borrowar shall promptly dischnrge aby lten which has prioeity aver thie Gesurity Inatrumsant unless Borrower!
(&) ngreee in wrlidng ta the prymens ofthy abligetion secured by the Jien In @ manner secuptablo te Londer) () centudis
in good falth the llen by, or defvndd ageinsy enforcamont of the lien In, legal proceedings which In the Lendet’s
opinion opeyats to prevent the enforosmant of the livni of {0} sacures from the holder of the lien un agreemont
antlutiotery 1o Landar subgrdinaling the lien o this Soowlty inswumant. 3 Lender detorminss that any part af the
Propecty s subjeat to 6 lien which may atiain priarlty over this Securlty Insirumont, Landor may glve Borrawar
notice identifylng the Hen. Borrower ghall satlsfy the lisn or take o or moro of the sotiona set forth Lbove within
10 days of the glving of natles
8 Fo Lpnder ymay callect faes end charges numorized by the Smaratary.
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g, Grounda for Acesloration of Debt,
(a) Defuult, Lander may, except ke [imhed by roguiations Issucd by the Secralary In the case of payment
dufaulte, raauirs immedinta payment in Al of ui) surn spoured by thiw Becurlty Inswument i
() Borruwer defaulis by faiiing to pay I R} gny momhly paymeni reguired by this Seaurlty
Lnstrument prior to or on the due date of the naxt monthly payment, er
(il) Borrowsr dafsulta by fatling, tor o porlod of thiryy duyw, to porform any ofher obligetions
contalned (o this Seourity Instrumeant.
(h) Eale Without Credit Approval, Lender shall, if permitted by appliceble Jaw (includlng section 341(d) !
of the QariwSt, Cermaln Dupository Ireiltutions Aet of 1982, 12 U.5.C. 1701§-3¢d)) and with the prior ;
appraval of the Searetary, raquite Lmumedialy payniont In Bl of ali sims sacirsd by this Securlty latrument ifl i
() Al er pert of the Propetty, or a beneaficial interest In & trust owning all Or part of tha Prapstty, s :
sold or otherwlss transferred (othar than by dovise or dessent), and :,
(1) The Froperty [ not ocoupled by tho purchuysr or granioa 4 hls or her prinaipul rosidangs, vt the |
purchaser of prantes does so oQoupy the Progerty, but hiz or her sredit has nol hoan appréved fn .
accardance with the requirements of the Seocetary.
{¢) No Walver, 1F clrcumulnnces ovour that would permit Lendur to require Immedlate payment In ful,
but Lender dogs vot require sioh paynwents, Lender d008 not walva (18 rights with resgest 10 subssguent Svonls,
() Regulatioss of HUD Secrotary. (n mony ciroumstances reguintions igsoed by the Seoretary wiil imit i
Lender's rights, in tha cane of prymeat defunid, o raquire immedisic paymient In Al ang forealtosn IE not
palds Thiv Securlty [natrumant doek Hot authorlze soculeration or Rireaiosure |€ oy permited by regulations
of the Seorotary,
(¢) Mortgage Nat Insured, Borrower agroed that |f this Basurlty Instrument and the Nows are ot
determinad to be eligibly for insurance uhder the Natlons! Housing Aot within 60 DAYS
from (e dabe hareot, Lender may, 8¢ 114 eptlon raquire Immedista paymant In full of &l sumd secusad by this
Becurity lnstrument. A wrltten statament of nny suthorizad agent of the Secretiry dated aubsequent (0 :
€0 DAYS fram tha date hateof, declinting 1o insura thiz Seourlty Insrumont and ;
the Now, shyll ba deemed sonaluslve proef of gunh Inaligibility, Netwimstanding the farageing, this aption
mey Aot be exerciaed by Lender when the unavaliabiiity of ineurance la aclely due ta Lender' s fhjlure to romil
» mortgage insurance premium to the Beorolory. ' .
10, Rolnstatemant, Borrowar has & right &0 bo rolnstated If Lender s required {mmediata prymant [n Rill
because of Borrowor's Tliure 19 pay an amowus due undor the Noto or this Securlty Inswument. This right applie
svert URer foreulosure proceadinge are [nstituted, To ralnatate the Seourlty Imstrumont, Horrawer shall tender ina
lump sum all emounis regulred Lo bring Borrower's ucoount oucront tnoluding, te i oxtant they w obligntlons of
Borrower under this Securlty tnstrument, (Rreclosurs cosls nd reassnable and custoniary nisarnoys’ foes and oxpensel
properly essoiated with tha fareclorure proeeeding. Upon reinstatement by Borrawer, this Ssausity Inglrument and
the obligutlons that i socures shall somaln 0 offwot a8 If Lender hud net required fmmediate payriont ln Bl
Howaver, [endur 18 not required (e parmlt relnatatornent ift (1) Lindsr has acvopted reinsipigment afor the
sormencemant of foraclosure proceetiings withln two yours jnmediately preceding the commencemunt of & ourrent
forevloaurs proceeding, (i) relnptatenisnt will preclude foreciosure on different grounds in the furure, or (il
relnsatement will waveragly aPfadt the prioricy of the lien oreatad by thls Seeurlty tnetrupient:
11, Dorrower Not Relessoil) Forbearancd by Lender Not & Walver. Extonsion of the time of payment or
modifiontion of amortization of the sumg sequred by this Sscurlty Ingtrument granted by Lender to any guceesser in
Interest of Morrowar shinll not apwrate 1o reietas the Hablily of the origlnst Borrower or Borrowet' 8 sudcesuors in
 Intereat. Lender ahall not be raguineil (o.aommenaepronaedings agninis pay successer (i interest or tofumt (o axend
time for peyment oF aifiorwlae tipd ity MRRFSATER Y Y Sl sasUEAd by this Socurlty Tnatrameat by reasoiof any’ et
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demand mads by the origingl Borrower or Barrawer gauccessorsin Intarest. Any forbearance by Lendsr In erecolsing
any right o remedy shall not be walver of or preclude the exerciss of any right ov remeady.

12, Snecessors and Assigns Bowng; Jolot and Several Liabiityy Co-Signers. Tie covenants und agresments
of this Security Instrument ghell bind and penaflt tha successors and naalgns of Landir knd Barrower, subjeot 10 the
provisioms of paragraph b). Borrower's covenants and agreamets shall be joint and aeveral. Any Borrower who
ca-slgie this Seourlty Instrusnont but <Jods not execute the Nots:  (a) Iy co-slgning this Sacurity Instrument only to i
incrtgage, grant and convey that Borrower'u Imtarest In tho Praparty woder the tersis of this Seourlty tnstrumeny ) |
{s not persshally obligated (o pay the sums sesurad by this Seokrlty Ingtrument; and (c) sgress that Londer and nay :
other Borrowar moy ngreo 10 &itend, enodify, forbear or make any assommodnilons with rugard to the Lerms of this '
Secunlty tastrument or the Noto without that Barrower's consent,

19, Noticer, Any noties ta Borrower hirovidad for in this Ssourlty Ingtrumant shall be given by delivering b of
by malilng It by first alass mail unless applicable iaw requires use of another mathod, Thu notise shail be dirested :
to the Property Address or any other addregs Borrower deslgnaicy by nutlce to Lender, Any nctice to Lender inall
b6 glven by f1ra1 olnes mall to Landar'u nddress stniod heraln or any addroa Londer duslgnatos by notlse o Borrower, i
Any notlos pravided for In this Sequrity Inssrumont shul) be deemod w have been glvem (o Burrower or Lendor when J
glven os provided In this paragraph. ;

14, Govornipg Law| Suveralillty. This Sacurity {ngtrument sh! bo governed by federnl law and the It of !
(e Jurisdlstlon T which the Property s located, In the event that any provision or olause of this Seourity Lnaivuinent \
ar the Note confilotx with applicable [sw, such confiiey shall not affoct ather pravisions of this Securlty lnstrument
ar tha Nota which aan ba given affsct without the sonflicting provision, To thls ond the provisions of thls Sesurity :
Lnstrument and the Note are dedinred to be severable, '

18. Borrewar's Copy. Borrower ghali beglven one conformud copy of the Note and of this Seourlty Instrument. :

16, Homardous Substunces. Borrowst shall not cauae or perralt the preacnce, Lie, disporal, storags, or relense i
of any Hazardous Substanoos on or In thie Proporty, Borrowsr hall not do, net allow ryona alse 10 do, anything
affecting the Property that Iy In violation af sny Brvirenmental Law, The preceding two aentenoss shall not apply ;
to the prassnce, use, of Marage on the Properiy of amall quantitles of Hazordous Substances that are genarally
recoghized to be approprinte to notran! resldontlal vses ond (o malitenanos of (N PrORErey.

Borrower shall promptly give Londer writtan notiae of any Invaztigatlon, olaim, demand, lawsult or ather pation ]
by any governmental or regulatory agency or private party involving tha Property pod any Hezardous Substance of ;
Brvironmenta) Law of which Berrowar hes notusl knowledge. 1FBorrower leurns, 7 18 netifled by any governmentl
or regulatery autharity, that any ramoval of ether romediation of any Hazardous Substanves affecting the Property
is recessary, Borrowar shall promptly 1ake all necessury temedlal aotiona (n scoordanca with Environmental Law,

Au used in thip paregraph 16, "Hazardous Substances” ere thode SULGtUNCES defined w3 toxie or haxardous
substonces by Environmental Luw snd tho following substances: gusoling, Xerosene, other flaramable or toxis
petroleum prodiets, toxle pesticldes and herblcldos, valutlle solvents, matoriula contalning asbestos or formaldehyde,
and redioacilva mnserlals, As veed I this paragraph 16, "Buvirenmenil Law" mowse federal laws and laws of the
Jutludietion where the Property [n located that relate to heslth, safbly or anvironmental protestion:

NON-UNIFORM COVENANTS, Borrowur and Lender further covenant und agree na follows:
17, Assigoment of Rents. Borrawer uncondisionully rasigna and transilirs to Londer all thw {énty and Fevenues
of the Property, Borrower authiorizes Londer or Lander's agents 1o ooliool the tants and rovenues and horeby directs
enclt tonunt of the Property 10 pay tha rents to Lender of Londer's agents, Howevor, prior (8 Lender's notloe to
Borrowsr of Barrewor' s braach ofany covenant or agreomeit In the Seaurity Inatruttiont, Borrowsr shul) gzalleot and
. racoivs Wil sents snd revenume of the Proparty g fruslio fat the hanafit of Lendsr snd forrower, This assignment of
w0 it amatitutes apeabyolute ass{ﬁnment'and*not'aﬁ"aisfme'hl'fbl"'aﬂdltfohil"uwtltﬁ" Ol e bt B
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If Lendar gives nolice of breach Lo Borrower: (a) all rontd recelved by Borrower shall b beld by Borrower as
tustes for benefit of Lender only, to te applicd to the sume sapured by the Security Instrument; () Lender shail be
etitied 1o colleot and recuive all of thy rents of tie Property; and (e) aach tenant of the Properiy ahall pay wll renta
due and unpuld to Lender or Lander'w agent on Lerider' @ written domand o the tenant,

Hoprower haa hot axscuted any prior masignment of the renta and haz not and wiil not perform any aot thar wollld
prevent Lendor from oxercising (ts rights under thig parograph 17.

Latitar #hall ot be requlred to onter upon, take gontrol of or malntain e Properiy bufbre or alter glving nutice
of breaoh to Borrower, Howavor, Lender or a judloislly appoinied recslver may ao so st any time there ls a brench,
Any sppiloation of rents shall pat cura or walve eny default or Invalidate any other right or remedy of Lender, This
assignment of renig of the Proparty ehall lrminate whoi the dobt sraurod by the Securlry Instrument ls pald in full,

14, Foreclosure Pracuduro. If Leudar requites immedinte payment fn full uudes paragraph 9, Lander may
Foreclose this Serurity fuxtrument by Judicial procecding, Lender ghall be sutlted to collect all expwnses
incerrad [o pursuing the reucdics provided i this paragruph 18, Including, but not limited toy reagonable
nttornoys' foes and costs of title evidsnce.

If the Lendet's interast in this Security Instrumont fa held by the Socvetary and the Bocretary réquires
Innediate payment In falt under paragraph 9, the Scorotary may lavol the uanjudicinl power of sala provided
in (e Singls Family Mortgage Foravloanre Act of 1904 (At (12 U.8,C, 3751 of 269.) by requesting @
foroclosure commissloner duriguated under the Act tu comntwace forociosure and ¢o sell thu Proparty os provided
in the Act, Notblag in the proceding santence shall deprive the Secrotary of nuy righty otherwise avaliable to
o Londer undor this paragroph 18 er applicable law,

16, Raleasa. Upon payment of afl siting geouzad by this Seaurity [asirument, Londar shnll relonse thin Sacurity
Istrummsnt, Borrower shat! pay any recordation coatd, Londer may charge Borrower & foe for releasing th is Security
Ingtrument, bue only I the fow [ paid 1o o third party for sorvices rondered and the charging of the fos (g permitted
under applicable Inw,

20, Attorneys' Kess. As used in thia Seowrlty Instrument and the Note, aftorneys' fees shall Inolude those
swasded by an appellate sourt and any avornayy' Foet inourred In 8 bankruptoy proceediag,

21, Riders to this Securlty fostrument. ¥ one o More ridurn arg exocutdd by Barrower and recorded togethor
with this Securlty Instrument, (he coverams of each such ridar shall be Incerparated into and zhall amend and
supplement the covenanis wid egrsements of this Securlty Instrument ag If the rider(s) Were A pack of this Seeurity

Ingtrumant,
{Chuck applicabls ban(ss)).
1 Condomintum Rider 3 Crndunted Poymant Rider Girowing Baulty Rider
& FPlanned Unit Develapment Ridet C) Adjustable Rate Rider Rohubilitatlon Loan Rider
[] Noa-Owner Cocupancy Rider (0] Other (Specliy]
N S T S Poge 7 of § Dol e miaga. ort
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BY SIONING BELOW, Borrower aocopta and agroed io the torms coritalned in pages t through 5 ofhis Seourlty
[nstrument and In any rider(s) exeautcd by Borrower and recorded with it

ol L. .. 'm)
G e (Baul — e
HERRY.LOORED «ﬂﬁn(%wa@ez i "B orrawer
11297 SW 1327TE LANE, MIAMI,
FL 33187
. {Scai
- _“-Eoégw“elaz -Mrmwa
gl T TIPS =t .~}
oo ; Hartower
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[Spaca Below Thia Line For Acknow lesgniant] , -

STATE OF FLORIDA

COUNTY OF \/\.C Y ! Q’l.oa . &
1™ dayof Detambie 200
The foregolng Invtrument was neknowiedged befors ma this day o .

by _HARRY JONES

" Uizt yoes(Atapal

(Type of \dentiflasio)

wha [s patsonally known (o me of who hes produced

at [dentification.
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. Nowy Nhhﬂ "
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